



High blood pressure in adults: supporting adherence to selfmanagement NRF Clinical Practice Guidelines™

COMPOSITION OF THE WORKING GROUP

Chair

ANNE OIKARINEN, RN, PhD (Health Sciences), Adjunct Professor, Vocational Teacher, University Lecturer, Research Unit of Health Sciences and Technology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oulu.

Members

JONNA JUNTUNEN, RN. MHSc. Research Unit of Health Sciences and Technology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oulu.

KIRSI KIVELÄ, RN, PhD, Specialist in Knowledge Management, Director of Nursing, Wellbeing Services County of North Ostrobothnia

MARJUT LOUHELAINEN, PhD, MSc, Vocational Teacher, Senior Lecturer in Health Care, LAB University of Applied Sciences

MINNA YLÖNEN, RN, PhD, Vocational Teacher, Chief Nursing Officer, Social and Health Services, Wellbeing Services County of Southwest Finland. Postdoctoral Researcher, Department of Nursing Science, University of Turku

LEILA PAUKKONEN, PhD, University of Oulu (member of the working group until December 2024)

EVA-LEENA ANTERO-JALAVA, PHN, MHSc, Clinical Nursing Specialist, Primary Health Care Services, Wellbeing Services County of Southwest Finland (member of the working group until January 2024, thereafter member of the expert group)

Experts

EVA-LEENA ANTERO-JALAVA, PHN, MHSc, Clinical Nursing Specialist, Primary Health Care, Wellbeing Services County of Southwest Finland (member of the expert group from January 2024)

MARI BLEK-VEHKALUOTO, Specialist, Finnish Heart Association

NINA KEMILÄ, PHN, MHSc, Health Promotion Coordinator, Health Services, Disease Prevention and Treatment, Wellbeing Services County of Lapland

SANNA KREKU, PHN, Coordinating Occupational Health Nurse, Mehiläinen Ltd, Occupational **Health Services**

JUTTA PELTONIEMI, MD, Specialist in General Practice, Chief Medical Officer, Chief Physician for Infectious Diseases, Social and Elderly Services, Wellbeing Services County of Southwest Finland

PETRA SUONNANSALO, PT, MHSc, Doctoral Researcher, University Lecturer, University of Oulu

EXPERTS BY EXPERIENCE: Two individuals with hypertension who have personal experience in self-management of the condition.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS: The members of the guideline working group and expert group have no financial or other interests related to the guideline topic that would affect the reliability of the recommendations.

ISSN 2489-5024

Table of contents

COMPOSITION OF THE WORKING GROUP	2
Introduction	5
Purpose, objectives and key concepts of the guideline	6
Purpose and objectives	6
Target groups	6
Key concepts	6
Recommendations	8
Therapeutic relationship	8
Supporting the prerequisites for self-management	9
Factors affecting adherence to self-management	12
Guidance methods supporting self-management	14
5. Supporting mental well-being	17
6. Social support	17
7. Home blood pressure monitoring	18
References	19

Introduction

High blood pressure is globally the most significant risk factor contributing to morbidity and premature mortality.¹ If left untreated, hypertension damages the arteries and predisposes individuals to serious conditions, such as myocardial infarction and cerebrovascular disorders. The ideal blood pressure level is below 120/80 mmHg. Hypertension is defined as a blood pressure level exceeding 140/90 mmHg.^{2,3}

In Finland, approximately 1.5 million individuals aged 30–79 have been diagnosed with hypertension, of whom fewer than 30 % achieve the target blood pressure level of below 140/90 mmHg.⁴ Both genetic and lifestyle-related risk factors contribute to elevated blood pressure. The most important modifiable risk factors include excessive salt intake, unhealthy diet, overweight, physical inactivity, high alcohol consumption, smoking, poor sleep quality, and prolonged stress. Lifestyle changes addressing these risk factors play a central role and are the first-line approach in the self-management of elevated blood pressure.^{2,3}

Adherence to self-management is a key factor in achieving treatment goals for hypertension.^{3,5} It requires individuals with hypertension to engage actively and purposefully in promoting their own health and managing their elevated blood pressure. Factors influencing adherence include the patient's personal motivation, endurance, comprehensive knowledge of hypertension as a condition, and social support. Healthcare professionals play a crucial role in supporting adherence to self-management.^{6,7,8} Support from professionals, a functional therapeutic relationship^{6,7,8} an encouraging attitude, and personalised care^{6,8,9} all promote adherence. In addition to lifestyle changes, adherence to self-management also includes regular blood pressure monitoring and compliance with pharmacological treatment, if medication has been initiated.^{7,9,10,11,12,13}

This NRF Clinical Practice Guideline™ targets adults diagnosed with hypertension of exogenous origin, where the rise in blood pressure is due to external factors, such as lifestyle-related issues (e.g. salt, alcohol, overweight, stress). The guideline addresses methods that support adherence to non-pharmacological self-management.

Purpose, objectives and key concepts of the guideline

Purpose and objectives

The purpose of this Clinical practice guideline is to present evidence, based on systematically compiled and critically appraised research, regarding the support of adherence to non-pharmacological self-management among individuals over the age of 18 with hypertension. Furthermore, it proposes to provide recommendations for social and healthcare professionals who guide and support individuals with hypertension. The objective of the guideline is to offer evidence-based knowledge to social and healthcare professionals, enabling them to support individuals with hypertension in adhering to self-management practices. Furthermore, it aims to promote the use of meaningful and effective nursing interventions that support adherence to self-management. With the support received, individuals with hypertension may enhance their capacity for self-management, improve their overall health status, and reduce the risk of serious cardiovascular events.

Target groups

This guideline is intended for all social and healthcare professionals who encounter adults over the age of 18 with elevated blood pressure in their work and support them in adhering to self-management. The guideline is applicable in both specialised and primary healthcare, as well as in occupational health services. Additionally, it can be used to ensure the competence of nursing staff and in educational contexts. The guideline is also suitable as learning material and for curriculum development in vocational and continuing education.

Key concepts

High blood pressure and individuals with hypertension

Blood pressure is considered elevated when systolic pressure exceeds 140 mmHg and/or diastolic pressure exceeds 90 mmHg. Typically, blood pressure increases with age and as a result of unhealthy lifestyle habits. The average diastolic pressure tends to rise until approximately the age of 55, and systolic pressure until around the age of 80.³ The most significant lifestyle-related risk factors for elevated blood pressure include excessive sodium (salt) intake, unhealthy diet, excessive alcohol consumption, smoking, low physical activity, overweight, poor sleep quality, obesity, and prolonged stress.^{2,3} The diagnosis of hypertension is based on blood pressure measurements taken both in clinical settings and at home⁵. Home monitoring is the most recommended and generally sufficient method for tracking blood pressure.³ In this clinical practice guideline, individuals with hypertension are defined as those with exogenous hypertension, meaning the rise in blood pressure is caused by external factors such as lifestyle-related risks (e.g. salt, alcohol, overweight)¹⁴.

Self-management of hypertension and adherence to self-management

Self-management of hypertension includes activities that promote blood pressure health, such as adherence to healthy lifestyle habits: a heart-friendly diet, physical activity, moderate alcohol consumption, non-smoking, weight management, mental well-being, and sleep health^{5,15}. Furthermore, self-management involves regular home blood pressure monitoring, attending follow-up appointments, and adherence to medication when prescribed. This guideline focuses on adherence to non-pharmacological self-management among individuals with hypertension.

Adherence to self-management refers to the active and goal-oriented efforts of individuals with hypertension to manage their condition in collaboration with healthcare professionals. Factors associated with adherence include personal responsibility for care, cooperation with healthcare professionals, a sense of normality, motivation, self-efficacy, perceived treatment outcomes, fear of complications and disease progression, and support from family, nurses, and physicians 16,13,17,18,19. Many factors influence adherence; for example, motivation has been identified as a key factor 20,21. Interactive and client-centred lifestyle counselling has been shown to promote commitment to lifestyle changes 7. Finally, comprehensive knowledge of the disease and understanding the significance of the diagnosis support adherence 7,9,12.

A central element in adherence to self-management is the modification of lifestyle-related risk factors, which is the first step in lowering blood pressure without pharmacological treatment³. Key modifiable lifestyle-related risk factors include excessive sodium (salt) intake, unhealthy diet, overweight, low physical activity, excessive alcohol consumption, poor sleep quality, smoking, and prolonged stress.^{5,22,15}

Self-efficacy

In this guideline, self-efficacy refers to the individual's belief in their own ability to achieve blood pressure treatment goals. Self-efficacy is closely linked to motivation and changes in health behaviour. The concept is based on social cognitive learning theory. ²³ A strong sense of self-efficacy has been associated with better physical functioning, improved mental well-being, and reduced anxiety. Furthermore, self-efficacy supports adaptation to hypertension²⁴ and enhances quality of life²⁵. Higher self-efficacy promotes general adherence to self-management^{26,27,28}, lifestyle changes²⁹, adherence to a blood pressure-supportive diet^{30,31,32,33}, weight management^{30,33,34}, non-smoking³³, and physical activity^{31,33,34,35}.

Recommendations

1. Therapeutic relationship

Agree on regular follow-up appointments with the individual with hypertension, tailored to their individual needs, to ensure continuity of care and the establishment of a trusting therapeutic relationship, because

- the experience of a trusting therapeutic relationship may support adherence to self-management among individuals with hypertension³⁶. (C)
 - A trusting therapeutic relationship is based on mutual respect and recognition of the individual's own expertise regarding their life situation. Adherence to self-management requires active participation from both parties. A key factor in strengthening the patient's self-management capacity is interaction with the same healthcare professional.^{37,38}.
- → individuals with hypertension may perceive that regular follow-up appointments with a healthcare professional promote the achievement of treatment goals³⁹. (C)
 - According to healthcare professionals, insufficient information and poor communication are the main reasons why individuals with hypertension do not adhere to their care plans⁴⁰.
 - When blood pressure is at the target level, the frequency of follow-up visits should be planned individually, based on medication and comorbidities. After the diagnosis of hypertension and the initiation or adjustment of medication, contact is recommended every 1–2 months until blood pressure control is achieved.³
 - Telephone and remote guidance can also be utilised in the follow-up of clients whose blood pressure is under control. Those outside the target range should be referred for an in-person appointment. Risk factor assessment is recommended at least every two years.³

2. Supporting the prerequisites for self-management

Individuals with hypertension are more likely to adhere to self-management if they possess strong self-efficacy, knowledge of their condition, good self-management abilities, and high health literacy.

Identify the need for guidance and provide support that enhances self-care abilities, because

- guidance on self-management is likely to increase individuals' knowledge of their condition^{41,42,43,44}. (B)
 - The need for guidance can be assessed using, for example, the digital health checkup by Duodecim, available through the national Omaolo service: www.omaolo.fi.
- → guidance that supports self-efficacy appears to increase commitment to lifestyle changes among individuals with hypertension^{45,46}. (B)
- > utilising digital methods may reduce uncertainty related to the condition among individuals with hypertension⁴⁷. (C)
- > self-management guidance focused on readiness for change may increase commitment to lifestyle changes among individuals with hypertension^{48,49}. (C)
 - In a randomised controlled trial, self-management guidance targeting cognitive-behavioural readiness for change (i.e. an individual's readiness and ability to reflect on and modify thoughts and behaviours purposefully) increased physical activity, reduced cardiovascular risk, and decreased salt intake among women. The results were measurable one year after the intervention.⁴⁸
 - In another randomised controlled trial, digital self-management guidance targeting readiness for change reduced blood pressure and cholesterol levels, particularly in men. The results were measurable one year after the intervention.⁴⁹
- → guidance focused on hypertension management may improve adherence to non-pharmacological self-management methods⁵⁰. (C)

Offer guidance individually to the person with hypertension, because

- ▶ lifestyle-related self-management guidance appears to support adherence to healthy lifestyle habits^{51,52}. (B)
 - Dietary counselling helps individuals suffering from hypertension to adopt a low-sodium diet. In one study, the counselling was provided at the individual's home.⁵³
- guidance that does not address individual needs may weaken commitment to lifestyle changes³¹. (C)

Support the individual's self-care capacity by strengthening their confidence in their ability to manage their condition, because

- better self-efficacy among individuals with hypertension appears to promote adherence to self-management4^{26,28,29,30,31,32,33,34,35}. (B)
 - In this context, self-efficacy refers to the individual's belief in their ability to achieve blood pressure treatment goals. Self-efficacy is closely linked to motivation and changes in health behaviour. The concept is based on social cognitive learning theory.²³
 - A strong sense of self-efficacy has been associated with better physical functioning, improved mental well-being, and reduced anxiety. Furthermore, self-efficacy supports adaptation to hypertension⁵⁴ and enhances quality of life.²⁵
 - Higher self-efficacy promotes general adherence to self-management^{26,27,28}, lifestyle changes²⁹, adherence to a blood pressure-supportive diet^{30,31,32,33}, weight management^{30,33,34}, non-smoking³³, and physical activity^{31,33,34,35}.
- ➤ confidence in one's self-care ability may support adherence to self-management⁵¹. (C)
- negative perceptions and attitudes related to the condition and its treatment may weaken adherence to self-management^{52,55}. (C)

Whenever possible, use a variety of guidance methods to support the patient's self-efficacy, because

> self-management guidance supports self-efficacy among individuals with hypertension^{42,46,50,56,57,58,59}. (A)

Discuss the nature of hypertension and the importance of self-management with the individual, because

- \succ knowledge of hypertension promotes adherence to self-management^{28,29,32,52,} ^{60,61,62,63}. (A)
 - Adherence to self-management is supported by understanding the necessity of dietary changes despite medication³² and the connection between dietary salt and high blood pressure.⁶²
 - Adherence to pharmacological treatment is a key part of self-management, especially when lifestyle changes alone are insufficient.³
 - The most important risk factors for elevated blood pressure include excessive sodium (salt) intake and lifestyle-related factors such as unhealthy diet, excessive alcohol consumption, smoking, low physical activity, overweight, poor sleep quality, obesity, and prolonged stress.^{2,3}
 - A heart-friendly diet rich in vegetables, fruits, and berries lowers elevated blood pressure. The effect is enhanced by reducing sodium intake and increasing the use of fibre-rich products.^{2,3,64}
- > willingness to receive lifestyle counselling may support achieving blood pressure control⁶². (C)

Tailor self-management guidance to the individual's capacity to absorb information, because

- ▶ health literacy among individuals with hypertension may be associated with adherence to self-management⁶⁵. (C)
 - Younger individuals with hypertension have been found to have stronger health literacy than older individuals⁶⁵.

3. Factors affecting adherence to self-management

Consider the individual factors that influence adherence to self-management among people with hypertension, because

- > women with hypertension are more likely to adhere to lifestyle changes than men^{29,31,34,51,66,67,68}. (B)
 - In general, women are more likely to adhere to self-management than men^{29,51,66}, and specifically to abstain from alcohol and smoking^{67,68}, as well as following a low-sodium diet⁶⁷. On the other hand, when compared to men, women are less likely to adhere to physical activity^{31,34}.
 - In a cross-sectional study, men with hypertension were more likely to have uncontrolled hypertension than women⁶⁹.
- ➤ a known genetic disposition may increase adherence to weight management among individuals with hypertension³⁴. (C)
- ➤ evidence on the association between age and adherence to self-management among individuals with hypertension is inconsistent^{28,29,34,52,61,65,66,67,68,70}. (C)
 - According to a cross-sectional study, individuals aged 50 or older with hypertension may be more likely to have uncontrolled hypertension than those under⁶⁹.
 - However, other studies suggest that older individuals with hypertension may be more likely to commit to, for example, blood pressure monitoring⁶⁷, non-smoking⁶⁸, alcohol abstinence⁶⁸, and physical activity³⁴ than younger individuals.
- > living environment may be associated with adherence to weight management among individuals with hypertension³⁴. (C)
 - In a cross-sectional study, individuals with hypertension living in rural areas were less likely to adhere to weight management than those living in urban areas³⁴.
- ➤ a higher level of education among individuals with hypertension may be associated with better adherence to self-management^{34,55,68}. (C)
- ➤ a positive perception of one's own health may be associated with better dietary quality among individuals with hypertension³⁰. (C)

Consider comorbidities in self-management guidance, because

- > comorbidities appear to impair the achievement of blood pressure control among individuals with hypertension^{62,69}. (B)
- → evidence on the association between comorbidities and adherence to selfmanagement is inconsistent^{29,55,71}. (C)

Consider the duration of the condition in self-management guidance, because

- individuals in the early stages of hypertension appear to be less likely to adhere to self-management than those who have had the condition longer^{29,31,66,68}. (B)
 - An exception was found in one cross-sectional study, where individuals who had been diagnosed with hypertension for no more than three months were more likely to engage in physical activity than those with a longer disease duration³¹.

4. Guidance methods supporting self-management

Select guidance methods in collaboration with the individual with hypertension, as multiple methods and their combinations can support self-management and adherence. Furthermore, it is important to ensure that the individual understands the content of the guidance. You may utilise the teach-back method, which supports the client's ability to absorb information about hypertension as a condition. This method allows both parties to confirm understanding and identify any need for additional information or repetition.⁷²

Whenever possible, utilise digital methods in self-management guidance, because

- \succ the use of digital methods promotes adherence to self-management⁷³ and to a healthy diet^{56,73}. (A)
 - Remote guidance may support the self-care and self-monitoring of individuals with chronic conditions at least as effectively as conventional care or guidance. Remote guidance and monitoring appear to have a positive effect on blood pressure among individuals with hypertension.⁷⁴
 - The likelihood of uncontrolled hypertension is higher among individuals who do not follow dietary recommendations. In the study, uncontrolled blood pressure was defined as RR ≥150/90 mmHg in individuals aged 60 or older, or ≥140/90 mmHg in those under 60, and in all individuals with diabetes or chronic kidney disease, unless a different target had been agreed upon.⁶⁹
- \succ the use of digital methods supports blood pressure control^{47,73,75,76,77}. (A)
- → digital methods appear to promote physical activity⁵⁶ and weight management^{56,76}. (B)
 - The likelihood of uncontrolled hypertension is higher among physically inactive individuals. In the study, uncontrolled blood pressure was defined as RR ≥150/90 mmHg in individuals aged 60 or older, or ≥140/90 mmHg in those under 60, and in all individuals with diabetes or chronic kidney disease, unless a different target had been agreed upon.⁶⁹

- → individuals with hypertension appear to find digital methods meaningful in supporting self-management^{78,79}. (B)
- > the use of digital methods may promote self-management⁴⁷. (C)

Whenever possible, utilise face-to-face self-management guidance, because

- > face-to-face guidance may support blood pressure control⁸⁰. (C)
- → individualised face-to-face guidance sessions may help individuals with hypertension maintain regular meal patterns⁵⁹. (C)
 - Face-to-face guidance may be more suitable than other methods, especially if the patient has communication challenges (e.g. language barriers). The nature of the guidance need (e.g. how new, complex, or sensitive the topic is) may also affect the suitability of remote guidance⁷⁴.

Whenever possible, utilise small group sessions in self-management guidance, because

- > small group guidance tailored to the needs of individuals with hypertension appears to support smoking cessation⁵⁹. (B)
 - In a cross-sectional study, non-smoking adults with hypertension adhered to selfmanagement better than smokers.⁶⁵
- → participation in interactive small group guidance appears to reduce blood pressure^{44,46,57}. (B)
- > small group guidance appears to promote physical activity^{41,44,59}. (B)
- > small group guidance may promote adherence to self-management⁸¹ and to therapeutic diet^{41,44}. (C)
- → interactive small group guidance may improve nutrition among overweight women with hypertension⁵⁷. (C)
- ➤ a small group programme aimed at improving health literacy may promote adherence to dietary recommendations⁸². (C)

Consider combining different methods in self-management guidance, because

- > combining face-to-face and text message-supported guidance appears to promote adherence to a personal exercise plan⁸³. (B)
- > combining home-based and telephone self-management guidance may promote adherence⁸⁴. (C)
 - In a randomised controlled trial, a three-month nurse-led self-management support programme, including a home visit and biweekly telephone follow-up, promoted adherence to physical activity, sodium reduction, and home blood pressure monitoring⁸⁴.
- > combining face-to-face and email-based guidance may promote adherence to lifestyle changes⁸³. (C)
 - In a randomised controlled trial, combining face-to-face and text message-based guidance increased physical activity and adherence to therapeutic diet among individuals with poorly controlled hypertension⁸³.
- combining individually tailored face-to-face and telephone guidance may help reduce blood pressure readings⁸⁵. (C)
- > combining written and video material as well as group discussions may increase adherence to self-management⁴³. (C)
 - In the study, participants in the intervention group received written and video materials and participated in professional-led group sessions as well as discussions on hypertension and its self-management. The group sessions lasted 60 minutes per week for 12 weeks. The intervention increased home blood pressure monitoring, dietary quality, physical activity, and awareness of elevated blood pressure, and reduced tobacco and alcohol use.⁴³

- ➤ combining telephone and text message-based guidance may increase adherence to self-management⁵⁸. (C)
- > combining small group and telephone-based guidance may support blood pressure control⁸⁶. (C)
- combining home blood pressure monitoring with an exercise programme may promote adherence to physical activity⁸⁷. (C)
- > combining home blood pressure monitoring with telephone guidance appears to increase the achievement of target blood pressure readings⁸⁸. (C)

5. Supporting mental well-being

Support individuals with hypertension to address fears, anxiety, and depression related to their condition, because

- > symptoms of depression appear to be associated with poorer adherence to lifestyle changes among individuals with hypertension^{28,30,60,61}. (B)
- > fear of complications related to the condition may hinder the achievement of blood pressure control⁶². (C)
- > anxiety related to the condition may weaken adherence to healthy lifestyle habits among individuals with hypertension³¹. (C)
 - In a cross-sectional study, anxiety related to the condition increased the risk of physical inactivity and low consumption of fruits and vegetables among individuals with hypertension³¹.

6. Social support

Discuss about the importance of social support with the individual with hypertension during self-management guidance, because

➤ social support improves adherence to self-management among individuals with hypertension^{29,30,35,55,60,71}. (A)

7. Home blood pressure monitoring

Encourage individuals with hypertension to measure their blood pressure regularly at home, because

- home blood pressure monitoring may increase awareness of the relationship between blood pressure and lifestyle habits^{40,89}. (C)
 - Individuals with hypertension report that home monitoring strengthens collaboration between themselves and healthcare professionals. On the other hand, a potential drawback is that individuals may make decisions based on home readings about whether to follow medical advice. These decisions may concern, for example, the selfinitiated start or discontinuation of medication, or adherence to lifestyle recommendations.⁸⁹
 - Individuals with hypertension may feel uncertain about how often they should measure their blood pressure at home and the reliability of the readings.⁸⁹
 - The appropriate frequency of home blood pressure monitoring depends on the current blood pressure level and individual treatment goals. When blood pressure is under control, measuring on 2–4 days per month is sufficient^{3,90}. Prior to a clinical appointment, a more intensive measurement period is recommended to assess treatment needs: blood pressure should be measured before taking medication in the morning (between 6–9 a.m.) and in the evening (between 6–9 p.m.), twice at 1–2-minute intervals, over 4–7 days. The average of morning and evening readings should be calculated and recorded.³
 - Home measurements provide a more reliable picture of blood pressure levels than
 those taken in clinical settings. For 30 minutes prior to measurement, individuals
 should avoid strenuous physical activity, smoking, and consumption of caffeinated
 beverages (coffee, tea, cola drinks, and energy drinks).³
- > regular home blood pressure monitoring may help older individuals achieve their target blood pressure readings⁹¹. (C)
 - In a randomised controlled trial, automated recording of home blood pressure readings increased adherence to home monitoring. Among those using automated recording, 76.5% measured their blood pressure at all checkpoints, compared to 25.4% of those using conventional manual recording.⁹²

References

- 1. Maailman terveysjärjestö (WHO). Global report on health equity for persons with disabilities. Saatavilla https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240081062, 2023.
- 2. Pelttari H. Kohonnut verenpaine (verenpainetauti). Saatavilla *www.terveyskirjasto.fi*. Lääkärikirja Duodecim. Kustannus Oy Duodecim 16.5.2023.
- 3. Kohonnut verenpaine. Käypä hoito -suositus. Suomalaisen Lääkäriseuran Duodecimin ja Suomen Verenpaineyhdistys ry:n asettama työryhmä. Helsinki: Suomalainen Lääkäriseura Duodecim, 2020. Saatavilla www.kavpahoito.fi.
- 4. Terveyden- ja hyvinvoinninlaitos (THL). Terveys, toimintakyky ja hyvinvointi Suomessa: FinTerveys 2017 -tutkimus. Koponen P, Borodulin K, Kundqvist A, Sääksjärvi K, Koskinen S (toim.). Raportti 4/2018. Saatavilla https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-343-105-8, 2018.
- 5. Ferrari AJ SD, Aali A, Abate YH, Abbafati C, Abbastabar H, Abd ElHafeez S, Abdelmasseh, M A-ES, Abdollahi A, Abdullahi A, Abegaz, KH AZR, Aboagye RG, Abolhassani H, Abreu LG, Abualruz H, Abu-Gharbieh E,, et al. Global incidence, prevalence, years lived with disability (YLDs), disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs), and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 371 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories and 811 subnational locations, 1990–2021: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2021. *The Lancet* 2024; 403: 2133-2161.
- Kähkönen O, Oikarinen A, Miettinen H, et al. Perceived health among percutaneous coronary intervention patients over a six-year follow-up period. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 2023; 32: 4816-4826.
- 7. Oikarinen A, Engblom J, Kyngäs H, et al. A study of the relationship between the quality of lifestyle counselling and later adherence to the lifestyle changes based on patients with stroke and TIA. Clinical Rehabilitation 2018; 32: 557-567.
- 8. Saenyabutr C, Lagampan S, Powwattana A, et al. Understanding perspective on community health literacy for promoting the health of older adults with hypertension: a qualitative descriptive study. *Jurnal Ners (Surabaya)* 2024; 19: 144-155.
- 9. Kyngäs H, Duffy ME and Kroll T. Conceptual analysis of compliance. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 2000; 9: 5-12.
- 10. Kivelä K. Terveysvalmennuksen vaikuttavuus paljon terveyspalveluita käyttäville asiakkaille perusterveydenhuollossa [väitöskirja]. Oulu: University of Oulu, 2019.
- 11. Chopra HK and Ram CVS. Recent guidelines for hypertension: A clarion call for blood pressure control in India. *Circulation Research* 2019; 124: 984-986.
- 12. Kähkönen O, Saaranen T, Kankkunen P, et al. Predictors of adherence to treatment by patients with coronary heart disease after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 2018; 27: 989-1003.
- 13. Oikarinen A, Engblom J, Paukkonen L, et al. Effects of a lifestyle counselling intervention on adherence to lifestyle changes 7 years after stroke A quasi-experimental study. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 2023; 37: 163-172.
- 14. Charles L, Triscott J and Dobbs B. Secondary hypertension: Discovering the underlying cause. American Family Physician 2017; 96: 453-461.
- 15. Henry JA, Jebb SA, Aveyard P, et al. Lifestyle advice for hypertension or diabetes: trend analysis from 2002 to 2017 in England. *British Journal of General Practice* 2022; 72: e269-e275.
- Kyngäs H. A theoretical model of compliance in young diabetics. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 1999;
 8: 73-80.
- 17. Magrin ME, D'Addario M, Greco A, et al. Social Support and Adherence to Treatment in Hypertensive Patients: A Meta-Analysis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine* 2015; 49: 307-318.

- 18. Paukkonen L, Oikarinen A, Kähkönen O, et al. Adherence to self-management in patients with multimorbidity and associated factors: A cross-sectional study in primary health care. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 2022; 31: 2805-2820.
- 19. Kähkönen O KH, Saaranen T, Kankkunen P, Miettinen H, Oikarinen A. Support from next of kin and nurses are significant predictors of long-term adherence to treatment in post-PCI patients. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2020; 19: 339-350.
- Kähkönen O, Kankkunen P, Saaranen T, et al. Motivation is a crucial factor for adherence to a healthy lifestyle among people with coronary heart disease after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2015: 71: 2364-2373.
- 21. Kähkönen O, Vähänikkilä H, Paukkonen L, et al. Extension of the theory of adherence to treatment in patients with coronary heart disease. *Chronic Diseases and Translational Medicine* 2023; 10: 227-237.
- 22. Lloyd-Jones DM, Allen NB, Anderson CAM, et al. Life's essential 8: Updating and enhancing the American Heart Association's construct of cardiovascular health: A presidential advisory from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2022; 146: e18–43.
- 23. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: WH Freeman 1997.
- 24. Eller LS, Lev EL, Yuan C, et al. Describing Self-Care Self-Efficacy: Definition, Measurement, Outcomes, and Implications. *Int J Nurs Knowl* 2018; 29(1): 38-48.
- 25. Selzler A-M HR, Robson L, Lenton E, Goldstein R, Brooks D. Self-efficacy and health-related quality of life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A meta-analysis. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2020; 103: 682-692.
- Ding W, Li T, Su Q, et al. Integrating factors associated with hypertensive patients' selfmanagement using structural equation model: a cross-sectional study in Guangdong, China. Patient Preference and Adherence 2018; 12: 2169-2178.
- 27. Tan FCJH, Oka P, Dambha-Miller H, et al. The association between self-efficacy and self-care in essential hypertension: a systematic review. *BMC Family Practice* 2021; 22: 44-44.
- 28. Tebelu DT, Tadesse TA, Getahun MS, et al. Hypertension self-care practice and its associated factors in Bale Zone, Southeast Ethiopia: A multi-center cross-sectional study. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Policy and Practice* 2023; 16: 20.
- 29. Tibebu A, Mengistu D and Negesa L. Adherence to recommended lifestyle modifications and factors associated for hypertensive patients attending chronic follow-up units of selected public hospitals in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Patient Preference and Adherence* 2017; 11: 323-330.
- 30. Chen TY, Kao CW, Cheng SM, et al. Factors influencing self-care among patients with primary hypertension: path analysis of mediating roles of self-efficacy and depressive symptoms. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2023; 22: 620-627.
- 31. Doubova SV, Martinez-Vega IP, Aguirre-Hernandez R, et al. Association of hypertension-related distress with lack of self-care among hypertensive patients. *Psychology, Health & Medicine* 2017; 22: 51-64.
- 32. Shim J-S, Heo JE and Kim HC. Factors associated with dietary adherence to the guidelines for prevention and treatment of hypertension among Korean adults with and without hypertension. Clinical Hypertension 2020; 26: 5.
- 33. Warren-Findlow J, Seymour RB and Brunner Huber LR. The association between self-efficacy and hypertension self-care activities among African American adults. *Journal of Community Health* 2012; 37: 15-24.
- 34. Haung Z, Hong SA, Tejativaddhana P, et al. Multiple self-care behaviors and associated factors in community-dwelling patients with hypertension in Myanmar. *Nagoya Journal of Medical Science* 2020; 82: 363-376.
- 35. Hu HH, Li G and Arao T. The association of family social support, depression, anxiety and self-efficacy with specific hypertension self-care behaviours in Chinese local community. *Journal of Human Hypertension* 2015; 29: 198-203.

- 36. Zhou C, Chen J, Tan F, et al. Relationship between self-care compliance, trust, and satisfaction among hypertensive patients in China. *Frontiers in Public Health* 2022; 10: 1085047.
- 37. Lönnberg L DM, Revenäs Å. Lifestyle counselling a long-term commitment based on partnership. BMC Primary Care 2022; 23.
- 38. Walseth LT AE, Schei E. Patients' experiences with lifestyle counselling in general practice: A qualitative study. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care* 2011; 29: 99-103.
- 39. Lauffenburger JC, Barlev RA, Khatib R, et al. Clinicians' and patients' perspectives on hypertension care in a racially and ethnically diverse population in Primary Care. *JAMA network open* 2023; 6: e230977.
- 40. Bengtsson U, Kasperowski D, Ring L, et al. Developing an interactive mobile phone self-report system for self-management of hypertension. Part 1: patient and professional perspectives. *Blood Pressure* 2014: 23: 288-295.
- 41. Babaee Beigi MA, Zibaeenezhad MJ, Aghasadeghi K, et al. The effect of educational programs on hypertension management. *International Cardiovascular Research Journal* 2014; 8: 94-98.
- 42. Kim KB, Han HR, Huh B, et al. The effect of a community-based self-help multimodal behavioral intervention in Korean American seniors with high blood pressure. *American Journal of Hypertension* 2014; 27: 1199-1208.
- 43. Ozoemena EL, Iweama CN, Agbaje OS, et al. Effects of a health education intervention on hypertension-related knowledge, prevention and self-care practices in Nigerian retirees: a quasi-experimental study. *Archives of Public Health* 2019; 77: 23.
- 44. Rujiwatthanakorn D, Panpakdee O, Malathum P, et al. Effectiveness of a self-management program for Thais with essential hypertension. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research* 2011; 15: 97-110.
- 45. Fatemeh F, Zahra Emami M, Fatemeh Heshmati N, et al. Effect of self-care education designed based on bandura's self-efficacy model on patients with hypertension: A randomized clinical trial. *Evidence-based Care Journal* 2019; 9: 44-52.
- 46. Shin DS, Kim CJ and Choi YJ. Effects of an empowerment program for self-management among rural older adults with hypertension in South Korea. *Australian Journal of Rural Health* 2016; 24: 213-219.
- 47. Yang Y and Li R. The application value of internet health popularization for community patients with hypertension. *Atlernative Therapies in Health And Medicine* 2024; 30: 34-39.
- 48. Liu S, Tanaka R, Barr S, et al. Effects of self-guided e-counseling on health behaviors and blood pressure: Results of a randomized trial. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2020; 103: 635-641.
- 49. Nolan RP, Feldman R, Dawes M, et al. Randomized controlled trial of e-counseling for hypertension: REACH. *Circulation Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes* 2018; 11: e004420.
- 50. Zhu X, Wong FKY and Wu CLH. Development and evaluation of a nurse-led hypertension management model: A randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 2018; 77: 171-178.
- 51. Alefan Q, Huwari D, Alshogran OY, et al. Factors affecting hypertensive patients' compliance with healthy lifestyle. *Patient Preference and Adherence* 2019; 13: 577-585.
- 52. Heymann AD, Gross R, Tabenkin H, et al. Factors associated with hypertensive patients' compliance with recommended lifestyle behaviors. *Israel Medical Association Journal* 2011; 13: 553-557.
- 53. Hazrati Gonbad S, Zakerimoghadam M, Pashaeypoor S, et al. The effects of home-based self-care education on blood pressure and self-care behaviors among middle-aged patients with primary hypertension in Iran: A randomized clinical controlled trial. *Home Health Care Management & Practice* 2022; 34: 9-16.
- 54. Eller LS LE, Yuan C, Watkins AV. Describing self-care self-efficacy: Definition, Measurement, Outcomes, and Implications. *International Journal of Nursing Knowledge* 2018; 29: 38-48.

- Melaku T, Bayisa B, Fekeremaryam H, et al. Self-care practice among adult hypertensive patients at ambulatory clinic of tertiary teaching Hospital in Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Policy and Practice* 2022; 15: 23.
- 56. Chen TY, Kao CW, Cheng SM, et al. A web-based self-care program to promote healthy lifestyles and control blood pressure in patients with primary hypertension: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship* 2022; 54: 678-691.
- 57. Daniali SS, Eslami AA, Maracy MR, et al. The impact of educational intervention on self-care behaviors in overweight hypertensive women: A randomized control trial. *ARYA Atherosclerosis* 2017; 13: 20-28.
- 58. Kim M. Effects of customized long-message service and phone-based health-coaching on elderly people with hypertension. *Iranian Journal of Public Health* 2019; 48: 655-663.
- 59. Zhang Y, Liu S, Sheng X, et al. Evaluation of a community-based hypertension self-management model with general practitioners. *International Journal of Health Planning and Management* 2019; 34: 960-974.
- 60. Abdisa L, Balis B, Shiferaw K, et al. Self-care practices and associated factors among hypertension patients in public hospitals in Harari regional state and Dire Dawa City administration, Eastern Ethiopia: A multi-center cross-sectional study. *Frontiers in Public Health* 2022; 10: 911593.
- 61. Adinkrah E, Bazargan M, Wisseh C, et al. Adherence to hypertension medications and lifestyle recommendations among underserved african american middle-aged and older adults.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2020; 17: 1-15.
- 62. Gu J, Zhang XJ, Wang TH, et al. Hypertension knowledge, awareness, and self-management behaviors affect hypertension control: a community-based study in Xuhui District, Shanghai, China. *Cardiology* 2014; 127: 96-104.
- 63. Wondmieneh A, Gedefaw G, Getie A, et al. Self-care practice and associated factors among hypertensive patients in Ethiopia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Hypertension* 2021; 2021: 5582547.
- 64. Valtion ravitsemusneuvottelukunta TjhT. Kestävää terveyttä ruoasta kansalliset ravitsemussuositukset 2024.
- 65. Esen K and Kolcu M. The relationship between health literacy and self-care management in patients with hypertension attending primary healthcare centers. *Journal of Public Health* 2024; 32: 175-183.
- 66. Gebremichael GB, Berhe KK, Beyene BG, et al. Self-care practices and associated factors among adult hypertensive patients in Ayder Comprehensive Specialized Hospital, Tigray, Ethiopia, 2018. BMC Research Notes 2019; 12: 489-496.
- 67. Hu H, Li G, Arao T, et al. Prevalence rates of self-care behaviors and related factors in a rural hypertension population: A Questionnaire Survey. *International Journal of Hypertension* 2013; 2013; 282-289.
- 68. Warren-Findlow J and Seymour RB. Prevalence rates of hypertension self-care activities among African Americans. *Journal of the National Medical Association* 2011; 103: 503-512.
- 69. Abdisa L, Girma S, Lami M, et al. Uncontrolled hypertension and associated factors among adult hypertensive patients on follow-up at public hospitals, Eastern Ethiopia: A multicenter study. SAGE Open Medicine 2022; 10.
- 70. Innab A, Kerari A, Alqahtani N, et al. Patient activation, adherence to hypertension treatment plans and blood pressure control in Saudi Arabia: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* 2023; 13: e067862.
- 71. Abza LF, Yesuf MA, Emrie AA, et al. Self-care adherence and associated factors among hypertensive patients at Guraghe Zone, 2023. *Heliyon* 2024; 10: e36985.
- 72. Hotus. Näyttövinkki®: Millaiseen ohjaukseen teach-back-menetelmä soveltuu terveydenhuollossa ja mitä toteutuksessa on tärkeää huomioida? Näyttövinkki 6/2024. Laatijat: Virtanen H, Palonen M, Eskolin S-E. Hoitotyön tutkimussäätiö. 2024.

- 73. Hwang M and Chang AK. The effect of nurse-led digital health interventions on blood pressure control for people with hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship* 2023; 55: 1020-1035.
- 74. Hotus-hoitosuositus. 2022. Etäyhteydellä toteutettava pitkäaikaissairautta sairastavan omahoidon ohjaus. Hoitotyön tutkimussäätiön asettama työryhmä: Virtanen H, Marin M, Hiltunen A-M, Kaila A, Kajula O, Kesänen J. Helsinki: Hoitotyön tutkimussäätiö. Saatavilla https://www.hotus.fi/hoitosuositukset.
- 75. Glaser E, Richard C and Lussier M-T. The impact of a patient web communication intervention on reaching treatment suggested guidelines for chronic diseases: A randomized controlled trial. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2017; 100: 2062-2070.
- 76. Liu F, Song T, Yu P, et al. Efficacy of an mHealth app to support patients' self-management of hypertension: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2023; 25: e43809.
- 77. Thiboutot J, Sciamanna CN, Falkner B, et al. Effects of a web-based patient activation intervention to overcome clinical inertia on blood pressure control: Cluster randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2013: 15: e158.
- 78. Allen ME, Irizarry T, Einhorn J, et al. SMS-facilitated home blood pressure monitoring: A qualitative analysis of resultant health behavior change. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2019; 102: 2246-2253
- 79. Hallberg I, Ranerup A and Kjellgren K. Supporting the self-management of hypertension: Patients' experiences of using a mobile phone-based system. *Journal of Human Hypertension* 2016; 30: 141-146.
- 80. Golshahi J, Ahmadzadeh H, Sadeghi M, et al. Effect of self-care education on lifestyle modification, medication adherence and blood pressure in hypertensive adults: Randomized controlled clinical trial. *Advanced Biomedical Research* 2015; 4: 204.
- 81. Tankumpuan TA-O, Anuruang S, Jackson D, et al. Improved adherence in older patients with hypertension: An observational study of a community-based intervention. *International Journal of Older People Nursing* 2019; 14: e12248.
- 82. Warren-Findlow J, Coffman MJ, Thomas EV, et al. ECHO: A pilot health literacy intervention to improve hypertension self-care. *Health Literacy Research and Practice* 2019; 3: e259-e267.
- 83. Aghakhani N, Parizad N, Soltani B, et al. The effect of the blended education program on treatment concordance of patients with hypertension: A single-blind randomized, controlled trial. *Journal of Vascular Nursing* 2019; 37: 250-256.
- 84. Miao JH, Wang HS and Liu N. The evaluation of a nurse-led hypertension management model in an urban community healthcare: A randomized controlled trial. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2020; 99: e20967.
- 85. Delavar F, Pashaeypoor S and Negarandeh R. The effects of self-management education tailored to health literacy on medication adherence and blood pressure control among elderly people with primary hypertension: A randomized controlled trial. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2020; 103: 336-342.
- 86. Farahmand F, Khorasani P and Shahriari M. Effectiveness of a self-care education program on hypertension management in older adults discharged from cardiac-internal wards. *ARYA Atherosclerosis* 2019; 15: 44-52.
- 87. Zaleski AL, Taylor BA, Park CL, et al. Using the immediate blood pressure benefits of exercise to improve exercise adherence among adults with hypertension: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Hypertension* 2019; 37: 1877-1888.
- 88. Bosworth HB, Olsen MK, Grubber JM, et al. Two self-management interventions to improve hypertension control: a randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2009; 151: 687-695.
- 89. Abdullah A and Othman S. The influence of self-owned home blood pressure monitoring (HBPM) on primary care patients with hypertension: a qualitative study. *BMC Family Practice* 2011; 12: 143.
- 90. Blek-Vehkaluoto M. Suomen Sydänliitto ry. Verenpaineen kotimittaus. Saatavilla: https://sydan.fi/fakta/verenpaineen-omaseuranta/. Päivitetty 28.4.2025.

- 91. Tzourio C, Hanon O, Godin O, et al. Impact of home blood pressure monitoring on blood pressure control in older individuals: a French randomized study. *Journal of Hypertension* 2017; 35: 612-620.
- 92. Lee P, Liu JC, Hsieh MH, et al. Cloud-based BP system integrated with CPOE improves self-management of the hypertensive patients: A randomized controlled trial. *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine* 2016; 132: 105-113.